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1. Name of Property

historic name Oregon State Capitol
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3. Classification
Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
D private [X] building(s) Contributing Noncontributing
[ pubtic-local [ district 1 buildings
[X] public-State [site 2 sites
D public-Federal E] structure structures
[ ] object 3 objects
6 Q__ Total
Name of related multiple property listing: Number of contributing resources previously
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Register’of Histogic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.
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6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions)

Government ; capitol

Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)

Government; capitol

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(enter categories from instructions)

Modernistic, or Stripped Classical

Materials (enter categories from instructions)

foundation Granite
walls Marble

roof ____ Asphalt (built—up)
other Steel (window casements)
__ Bronze (trim and ornament)

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

PHYSTCAL DESCRIPTION OF THE OREGON STATE CAPITOL: ORIGINAL AND PRESENT CONDITION

EXTERTOR ELEVATTIONS

North Elevation

East and West Elevations - original construction

South Elevation - original construction

1975-1977 Expansion

CHARACTERISTIC FEATURES OF THE INTERIOR: SPATTAL LORGANIZAIION AND FINTSH WORK

Interior - general
Lobby, or Rotunda
Senate and House Chambers
Governor's Office

DEPARIMENTAL AND SERVICE AREAS

Ground Floor
First Floor
Third Floor
Fourth Floor

CHRONOLOGY OF ALTERATTONS

[x]See continuation sheet
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PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE
OREGON STATE CAPITOL:
ORIGINAL & PRESENT CONDITION

The Oregon State Capitol, constructed between December 4, 1936,
and June 18, 1938, was designed by the New York architectural
firm of Trowbridge and Livingston, in association with Francis
Keally. Oregon Associate Architects were the firm of Whitehouse
and Church, Portland, with Earl P. Newberry serving as their
resident representative at the site. Ross B. Hammond was the
general contractor. Erected in the Modernistic style, the
Capitol Building was sensitively enlarged in 1977 in a compatible
manner by the Portland firm of Wolf, Zimmer, Gunsul, Frasca.
Cleaned in 1986 and meticulously maintained, the Capitol retains
its original function and is in excellent condition.

With its primary longitudinal axis oriented from east to west,
the Capitol entrance faces north to the Mall, whose Beaux Arts
style organization features two adjacent (perpendicular) blocks
of tree-ringed parks and gardens, bordered by arterial streets
and flanked by five formally disposed state office buildings
occupying separate blocks. Of these, the Oregon State Library,
Public Service Building, and Department of Transportation, were
designed to be stylistically compatible with the Capitol
Building. To the east and west of the Capitol are two parks.
The first, Willson Park, 1is situated to the west and served
historically as the focal point for the entrance to the original
Capitol building, whose entrance faced west on an axis toward the
Marion County Courthouse. This park was re-designed by Lloyd
Bond and Associates in 1965, following its transfer to State
ownership by the City of Salem. The Columbus Day hurricane of
1962 had eliminated most of the early plantings of evergreen
trees. Capitol grounds on the east, generaly known as East Park,
extend from the Capitol to the Justice Department complex on the
east side of Waverly Street. The latter complex is composed of
the Supreme Court Building and old State Office Building, both
designed by William C. Knighton. The east-west alley way between
these buildings is on axis with the central concourse of East
Capitol Park, thus providing a corridor which visually links the
old State Agriculture Building, located on the east side of 12th
Street, to the Capitol grounds.
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East Park is distinguished by the presence of intact aspects of
an early landscape design, which include trees, shrubs, and some
of the sidewalks. The cast bronze statue, "The Circuit Rider" by
A. Phimister Proctor, located on a perpendicular axis from the
east facade, was moved to the site after the completion of the
new building. Also evident are remnants of the classical fluted
columns from the old Statehouse portico, which have been arranged
as an historical exhibit.

To the south, the Capitol is bordered by State Street and the
campus of Willamette University.

As originally constructed the Capitol presented a truncated
T-shaped plan, with the southern wing having the shortest
dimension. Approximately 394 feet on its 1longitudinal axis
(east/west), the building's four-story main volumes and
horizontality are broken up by a vigorous use of setbacks and
reveals which complement the verticality of the massive rotunda,
whose height at the top of the statue is approximately 168 feet
from the ground.

Erected on a reinforced concrete foundation, +the original
interior structural system is a combination of reinforced
concrete, steel framing, and hollow clay tile. Exteriors are
clad in four to twelve inch widths of Vermont (Danby) marble
above a granite base which slopes to reveal a full ground story
at the south. Wall height to the lower parapet of the main
building - from the north elevation is Jjust under 53 feet.
Penthouses over the Senate and House chambers add an additional 7
feet to the height of the wings. The exterior marble slab facing
is of varying widths, in courses of unequal height. The east
and west wings are just under 92 feet wide, while the original
south wing is 120 feet wide on it's face. The entire original
building width approached 162 feet.

The surfaces of the various Capitol roof projections are
predominantly flat and were originally covered with quarry tile.
This material was removed in 1979, and replaced with a
conventional built-up bitumen roof.
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EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

North Elevation - original construction

The main facade is bilaterally symmetrical and organized into
three volumes. Two of these, the east and west wings, are
identical stylistically and translate internally to the House and
Senate chambers above the first floor. The central volume, whose
dignity, ceremonial importance, and interior functions are
expressed externally by the minimal use of wall penetrations,
clearly denotes its primary purpose by the use of flanking
pavilions and setbacks.

The pavilions are canted toward the entry wall and serve as a
literal and visual funnel, leading the eye toward the central
door and window assembly, which extends 35 feet above the
pavement to the incised or "countersunk" inscription, "STATE OF
OREGON" below which appears, inclined about 2'2" from the face,
a bas-relief of an eagle, wings outspread and clutching symbols
of war and peace in its claws over a sunburst field. This motif,
taken from the Oregon State seal, replaced the originally
specified bas-relief of the State seal bordered at the sides by a
bundled reed motif which resembled a Roman fasces. The reed
motif, composed of a series of vertical co-joined half rounds, is
consistently used throughout the building in other decorative
elements.

Below the bas-relief, fixed <tripartite windows separated by
engaged, reeded pilasters, twelve inches wide and bordered by a
paneled jamb, appear over the three sets of revolving glass and
bronze doors. Mullions, 2 3/4" in width, are organized into
vertical and horizontal pairs. Separating the windows from the
doors below are bronze panels which are embellished with cast
bronze bas-reliefs. From the left facing the entrance they are:
(1) Jjuxtaposed sheep, horse and steer; (2) the three-masted
schooner Columbia; and (3) juxtaposed stag, buffalo and doe. As
originally specified, they were to have been, in the same order,
(1) wheat sheaves (2) a beaver and (3) a conifer.
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The revolving doors, on a 3'8" radius, are confined in a bronze
casing with a marble floor, and are secured at night by curved
pairs of sliding bronze doors which are divided into three equal
square panels with a reeded border, embellished at each corner
with five point bronze stars. On either side of the entrance are
incised inscriptions which read:

To the east:

A FREE STATE
FORMED AND MAINTAINED
BY THE VOLUNTARY UNION
OF THE WHOLE PEOPLE
JOINED TOGETHER
UNDER THE SAME BODY OF LAWS
FOR THE COMMON WELFARE
AND THE SHARING OF BENEFITS
JUSTLY APPORTIONED

To the west:

THE MIND OF MAN
KNOWS NO EMPLOYMENT
MORE WORTHY OF ITS POWERS
THAN THE QUEST OF RIGHTEOUSNESS
IN HUMAN AFFAIRS
NO GOAL OF ITS LABOURS
THAT IS SUPERIOR TO
THE DISCOVERY OF THE GOOD
IN THE GUIDANCE OF LIFE

On the north elevation of the pavilions, a consistent design
module for window treatment, used throughout the building
exterior, is established. All windows are organized vertically
in the bays, and are centered, thus emphasizing the massiveness
of the individual volumes. Windows on the first floor are
single, unadorned, and 1linked visually but not 1literally with
their upper floor counterparts. These, and all other non-
customized windows are steel multi-paned casement, with fixed
upper and lower lights, and are generally set into a ten-inch
reveal. They are of a consistent width generally, but wvary in
height.
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As expressed in the pavilions, the window bay for the second
through the fourth floor is recessed on the north elevation.
Marble panels at the top, four feet high, are embellished with
bas-reliefs. On the east pavilion, an otter is represented,
while its counterpart on the west pavilion is a beaver. These,
and the other marble bas reliefs on the exterior were designed by
Ulric H. Ellerhausen, who also created the Oregon Pioneer statue
situated at the top of the dome and the bronze State seal floor
medallion in the rotunda.

Below the bas-relief panels appear two windows separated by a
reeded marble spandrel panel. Single casement windows appear at
the first floor on the non-entrance sides of the pavilions and
setbacks as they recede 14'6" toward the Senate and House wings.
At that wall plane, the single casement window is again found
centered in the first floor bays. Above the first floor at the
five bays serving the Senate and House chambers, the window
configuration is highly textured, being recessed in a series of
vertical setbacks to a maximum of 3'10" from the wall plane at
the parapet.

At the second floor of each bay appears a series of marble panels
inset 2'2" from the main wall. Centered in each bay is a
pierced marble grill 4'10" x 2'4", in an intersecting diagonal
design which is enlarged and repeated on the exterior face of the
dome between the buttresses.

The windows above are 17 feet high and stylistically similar to
those above the entrance, with the exception of an additional
square panel created by the intersection of the horizontal and
vertical paired mullions at the edge of the frame. Centered in
each square is an eight point bronze star-like motif. These
windows also feature operable side casements which open into the
interior. Separating each window grouping are pilasters,
presenting a 2'6" wide face which is inclined on either side
towards the window plane, where each is 3'6" wide. This
trapezoidal feature is repeated on the interior, as well. The
appearance of the setback penthouses, whose horizontal dimensions
slightly exceed the width of the recessed House and Senate window
bays, provide a satisfactory visual cap or terminus to the
vertical movement expressed by the House and Senate window bays.
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The slightly set-back end bays on the east and west corners are
unadorned with the exception of the cornerstone block, located at
the corner of the first floor of the east wing. There, the
centered date "1937" has been incised in the block.

The dominant feature of all Capitol elevations is the cylindrical
dome. It rises above the roof on a series of four set-back
marble-faced reinforced concrete and brick pedestals. The
first, essentially a greek cross shape, rises eight feet from the
parapet to the second, which is a chamfered square nine feet
high. There follows a six foot octagonal platform which is
located beneath a four foot high round base. From these
foundations, the main buttressed portion of the tower rises
approximately 43 feet to the parapet, which is recessed and adds
an additional six feet in height. The reeded marble pedestal for
the Oregon Pioneer statue extends upward for another 18 feet.

The exterior of the steel-framed drum is approximately 5'3" from
the interior dome. The intervening interior space consists of
steel platforms, stairs and catwalks which are designed to assist
in the maintenance of the dome.

The exterior buttresses are battered, that is, they incline in
from the face as their height increases. Pierced marble screens
appear between each buttress. Their design mirrors that of the
screens used in the east and west wings. They are fitted on the
interior as casements to allow for air circulation into the dome.

East and West Elevations - original construction

The secondary elevations to the east and west are practically
identical. Physically, the only difference between the two

- occurs above the centered entrances, where marble bas-reliefs are
found. On the east, the motif is one of three bundled sheaths of
grain; on the west, one of three Chinook salmon oriented toward
the north.

A set of wide granite stairs leads to the recessed entrance and
vestibule. A handicapped access ramp on the east elevation is
adjacent to the wall and attached at the north face of the stair.
The entry doors are a combination of glass and bronze and are
protected at night by bronze pocket doors which are similar to
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those found at the main entrance but featuring four panels
instead of three. Directly above the entrance, and flanking it
to either side are vertical window groupings similar to those
found on the north elevation.

Identical width steel framed casement windows of varying heights
are organized into five bays. On the second and third floors,
they are grouped, highlighted by a double height recessed jamb
and reeded marble spandrel panel. Fourth floor windows are
markedly shorter in height than those found on the lower floors.
The two end bays, set back from the primary wall plane, feature
narrower casements whose heights corresponds to the other windows
on each floor, but which are otherwise unadorned. Identical
paneled bronze secondary exit doors appear at the southeast
corner on the east elevation and southwest corner on the west
elevation.

South Elevation - original construction

This elevation is composed of the south facades of the east and
west wings, plus the south projecting wing.

Stylistically, the design of the south elevation of the east and
west wings is identical to that found on the north elevation of
these volumes, with the exception of the ground story, where the
granite-covered base is exposed as an additional story due to
the change in slope. Window openings on the ground floor conform
to the established formula, appearing singly in vertical
groupings.

The south wing side walls, stepping toward the main south
elevation, conform to dimensions developed on the north

elevation. Above the ground floor, window groupings are
identical to those found on the east and west entrance
elevations.

Historically, there was no central entrance on the south
elevation of the south wing. Rather, two side entrances leading
from the ground floor were developed. Double bronze and glass
doors opened from the interior into an attached exterior
vestibule constructed of bronze, copper and glass and featuring
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multi-paned lights above a paneled bronze base. Double exit
doors, facing south, opened to a bronze and copper margquise,
supported by bronze columns which extended past the plane of the
south elevation to the sidewalk and elliptical entry drive. When
the Capitol was expanded, the exits were retained, although the
leading edge of the marquise was cropped to the new south
elevation wall plane. Also, the copper coffers from the ceiling
of the marquise were removed and replaced with plexiglass bubble
skylights. '

The south elevation of the south wing was composed of nine bays
featuring the window grouping developed on the east and west
entrance elevations. These elements are still intact above the
first floor.

1975-1977 Expansion

The expansion of the Capitol occurred in the late 1970s, a
project designed by the Portland architectural firm of Wolf,
Zimmer, Gunsul, Frasca (now Zimmer, Gunsul, Frasca Partnership),
in consultation with noted Northwest architect Pietro Belluschi.

Complementing the original building in terms of mass, scale,
design and materials, the new additions have a strong visual but
minimal physical impact on the existing Capitol, as they are
connected to the building at only three points. Two of these are
rectangular corridor connections, approximately 10 x 11 feet in
dimension, which link the four-story legislative office wings to
the Capitol at the first window bay on the southwest and
southeast corner of the south elevation of the east and west
wings. To accommodate the corridors very little significant
fabric or interior spaces were altered. The cleverly set-back
connections at once subordinate the new wings to the original
massing while emphasizing the extreme design-sensitivity employed
by the architects to insure that the additions were compatible
with the original construction when seen from the most
significant view corridors: north, east and west.

To accommodate the additions, the major alteration and demolition
to the Capitol occurred at the ground and first floor elevations
of the south wing. On the ground story, corresponding to the new
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parking garage level, the exterior windows were removed and the
interior openings covered with drywall. The center bay became a
loading entrance, accessed from the garage. On the first floor,
the south front and side walls were removed entirely, as was all
remaining interior fabric in that wing. Structural columns were
kept and incorporated into the new interior design.

Programmatically, the four-story blocks accommodate House and
Senate offices and are connected by a one-story hearing room and
circulation gallery. A parking structure containing storage,
maintenance and mechanical rooms, is located under the new
additions on the ground floor and is accessed on the south by

ramps located at the east and west ends. The whole is
approximately 615 feet long and 90 feet wide at the ends of the
wings. \

Constructed of reinforced concrete and steel frame, the additions
are faced on the exterior with the same white Vermont marble
found on the original building, and is cut and applied to the
exterior face in modules that are very similar to the original.
The wall height of each four-story wing is just under 65 feet to
the parapet, to which is added an additional 11'7" for the
mechanical penthouses.

Pedestrian entrance to the Capitol from the south is gained
through three sets of stairs, one located on the north/south axis
and the others at either end of the slightly projecting central
mass. Marble-faced planters rise above the sidewalk to the first
floor sill height, and extend practically the entire width of the
additions.

Windows in the addition complement the original. Grouped in
horizontal bands on the first floor between structural columns
on the upper floors they follow the concept of the stacked
vertical bay developed in the original building. Normally 7'1/2"
high by 5'4" wide, the single windows contain vertical, double
light casements, framed by a recessed jamb motif similar to the
one found in the original building. The reveal is similar to the
original. All windows and door frames in the new additions are
in bronze anodized aluminum. Glass is insulated and tinted.
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Located at the perimeter wall of the one-story hearing room area
at the parapet is an aluminum and plexiglass railing. This
feature provides one of the few indications from the street that
the roof of the annex is functional for other than mechanical
use. Designed to provide an exterior garden terrace for the
State functions, the entire roof of the annex is either paved or
landscaped with raised planters. The center window of the three
providing 1light to the Governor's ceremonial office has been
removed and a door installed. Other means of egress to the
terrace are provided at the second level side elevations of the
legislative office wings.

Two other ground story interior courtyard gardens were created
when the additions were constructed. They have roughly
rectangular dimensions of approximately 46' x 85', and are not
visible from the exterior.
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CHARACTERISTIC FEATURES OF THE INTERIOR:
SPATIAL ORGANIZATION & FINISH WORK

Interior - General

The interior of the Capitol reflects the spatial and decorative
characteristics of the Modernistic style. While consciously
turning away from the Classical wall textures and motifs
historically associated with seats of government, the architects
nonetheless retained the programmatic and spatial "bones" that
underlie the best of the nation's larger public buildings.

Disposition of gubernatorial, 1legislative and state office
functions evolved around the rotunda's massive volume, which
extends approximately 106 feet from the floor to the roof of the
interior dome. Circulation is most complex on the first floor.
The major north/south axis begins at the entrance and passes
through the rotunda to the former south wing space and new
legislative wings. As originally proposed, the north/south axis
would have led directly to the building's largest hearing room.
However, as constructed, the north/south movement was arrested by
a corridor wall, as the south wing's functional requirements
changed after the competition to be more office-oriented than
legislative or ceremonial.

Encircling the rotunda on the first floor is a lobby corridor
which serves the east, west and south wings. Oon the upper
floors, the north arm of this corridor is absent, thus forming a
U-shaped configuration generally. On the first floors, the
east/west corridors bisect each wing and intersect the rotunda
corridor on the perpendicular.

The other major circulation pattern occurs from the rotunda to
the second floor where the Capitol's major public spaces are
found. Two 25-foot wide stairs rise from the rotunda floor on
the east/west axis to the commodious second floor legislative
vestibules, which then lead to the Governor's balcony and office
entrance centered on the south wall of the corridor.

Finishes are simple in keeping with the Modernistic style.
Floors in the public spaces, with the exception of the marble
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entrance vestibule and rotunda, are grid pattern terrazzo of
various square or rectangular dimensions bordered by bronze or
"bronzalum” strips. Interior office floors were originally
covered in 1linoleum tile but now are generally carpeted.
Corridors and secondary public stairway walls are paneled in
unadorned one-inch thick polished Montana travertine in a
rose/tan color above a 7" black Vermont marble base. The 52"
high panels are butt-jointed and uncapped. Marble frames for
doors, re-lites, and directories are six inches wide and flush
with the corridor panels. Remaining wall surfaces are plastered
and lack cornice moldings except on the second floor, where the
travertine covers the entire wall and is separated from the
ceiling by a modest cove molding.

Finished ceiling heights vary from eight feet on the fourth floor
to 10'3" around the rotunda corridor. The essentially flat
suspended plaster ceiling surfaces in the corridors is enlivened
by two shallow superimposed borders at the perimeter. Many of
these ceilings were demolished and reconstructed during the HVAC
installation in 1948 and 1968.

Doors accessing corridors date from various periods in the
building's history. Those from the original period are generally
3' ' x 7', They were designed with center panels, of wood, or
obscure or safety glass, and could have had a flat or louvered
panel at the bottom. All possessed bronze hardware which
featured knobs with the Oregon State seal. It is unknown how
many of the original knobs are extant, as many doors now feature
replicas of the original design.

Original ceiling fixtures in the corridors and public spaces
were designed by the architects. They are generally composed of
cast bronze and white opaque glass, some of which is molded. 1In
the corridors, fixtures are drum shaped and bear 1little
ornamentation. Others feature a square profile, with bronze side
panels ornamented with five point stars. The most elaborate are
the pendant shallow bowl fixtures in chrome and glass found in
the Governor's office suite.

The massive rotunda structure houses many of the buildings
service functions. These include public restrooms and secondary
public stairs. Many of the former are in original condition,
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featuring rich black and white marble partitions and black and
white tile walls and floors. The public stairs, comprised of a
bronze closed string structure, with 11" treads and 5 1/2" risers
in marble, are embellished with cast bronze rails and newel posts
and decorated with vertical and horizontal bronze straps 1/2" x
1 3/4" and 1/2" x 3/4" in dimension. On the wall at the landing
between each floor are found twin cylindrical opaque glass and
bronze wall sconces.

Two public elevators are located on the south wing corridor
walls. Bull-nose marble jambs lead to bronze doors with single
cast bronze bas-reliefs of an eagle in flight on a slightly
recessed octagonal ground. The refinished 8-foot high cabs are
paneled in walnut and feature bronze grills and hardware and
feature single dome shaped opaque glass and bronze ceiling
fixtures. Smaller, similarly designed non-public elevators
appear adjacent to the House and Senate chambers, and feature
exterior bronze bas-relief panels with a conifer design.

Oother original details worthy of note are the number of
directories, marble-framed and bordered with a reeded bronze
design; bronze and glass mail chutes and large bronze wall-
mounted collection boxes; the original bronze dedicatory plaques,
one 3' x 3'4" on which appears the names of the various
individuals, regqgulatory bodies and committees who participated in
the project. It is currently located on the first floor, near
the Secretary of State's office in the rotunda corridor. The
other dedicatory plaque, 3' x 10 5/8", was once placed above its
companion, and acknowledged Works Progress Administration
participation in the project. Numerous other plaques, not
original to the building, are displayed on the ground floor.
Also noteworthy are the different bronze radiator panels found
throughout the building.

Lobby or Rotunda

The entrance vestibule from the north providing access to the
side corridors and rotunda is a triple-height space whose walls
are sheathed in the same Montana travertine found throughout the
building. Two bordered marble rectangles on the floor adjacent
to the revolving entrance doors and currently covered most of
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the year by mats, lead to the rotunda space which is just under
55 feet from wall to wall, at the base. Centered on each wall
are similar recessed openings whose ceilings extend to the base
of the fourth floor level. Two of these encase the stairs to the
Senate and House chambers and are lit from above by large covered
skylight openings in a grid pattern of bronze and opaque glass.
The third appears over the entrance to the Governor's office
suite, and similar to the entrance vestibule, is paneled totally
in travertine which wraps around the edge of the frame on the
rotunda side in the form of a bull-nose molding.

The rotunda floor is bordered by a wide band of black Vermont
marble which contains two decorative bands. One, 17" wide, is
essentially a chevron pattern of alternating black and light-
grey marble. The other 9 1/2" wide, is composed of alternating
black and grey bands in a diagonal pattern. Dominating the
majority of the floor surface is a basket pattern of Napoleon
grey Missouri marble in a four-foot square module. At the very
center is the cast bronze bas-relief medallion of the Oregon
State seal bordered by a wide black marble border in which a dash
motif banded of grey marble is inset. Bronze compass points also
appear in the black border. As originally specified in the
working drawings, the central medallion was to have been a bas-
relief of the three-masted schooner Columbia.

Walls at the corners are coved on a six-foot radial from the
wall. The rusticated, 13-foot high travertine-covered lower wall
surface or dado is flush with an 18" black marble baseboard
below. The rusticated bands, featuring a 3 1/2" reveal, are not
continuous. Rather, they are framed by the previously mentioned
bull-nosed moldings at the north and south portals, and by flush
vertical marble corner pieces 7 1/2" wide on each face on the
east and west. Centered above the south portal on the first
floor is an incised inscription which reads:

IN THE SOULS OF ITS CITIZENS WILL BE
FOUND THE LIKENESS OF THE STATE WHICH
IF THEY BE UNJUST AND TYRANNICAL
THEN WILL IT REFLECT THEIR VICES BUT
IF THEY BE LOVERS OF RIGHTOUSNESS
CONFIDENT IN THEIR LIBERTIES SO WILL
IT BE CLEAN IN JUSTICE BOLD IN FREEDOM
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Directly abutting the marble wainscot and extending to what is
essentially the ceiling of the second floor are a series of
attached canvas mural panels by Frank Schwarz and Barry Faulkner
depicting significant Oregon historical events as well as
contemporary representations of the state's industry and
resources. The rotunda murals are identified by stencil
inscriptions on the marble below. Each is bordered at the top by
a painted band motif. From the top of this band to the base of
the dome, the wall surface is unadorned with the exception of a
series of eight trompe 1l'oeil octagonal medallions depicting
subjects taken from the eight objects found in the Oregon State
seal.

The terraced stairs leading to the Senate and House chambers are
marble, bordered by 3-foot wide sloping black marble platforms.
T reads are 14 1/2" wide to a bull-nose edge and have risers 3"
high. There are no railings, although a series of proposed
designs for a system was developed by major Capitol renovation
architects Carkin & Sherman, between 1968 (original plans) and
1975 (revised plans).

A large rectangular opening situated beneath small murals of the
provisional and territorial government seals and corresponding to
the width of the stairs, leads to the Senate and House vestibules
and chambers. On the sides of the stair walls are rectangular
openings 14'l x 8'h x 18"w which allow light from the skylights
to penetrate the 1large vestibule area, while also providing
spectators a view into the rotunda.

The Jjuxtaposition of the essentially square rotunda with the
cylindrical form of the upper dome is affected rapidly through a
series of curved and geometric moldings sloped toward the dome's
inner walls, which are forty feet in diameter. These traditional
moldings are painted, and include a mural band which depicts
alternating eagle and torch motifs. The wall surface of the dome
above these bands is unadorned with the exception of a series of
narrow rectangular openings which are framed with operable
bronze and opaque glass tripartite windows finished in a grid
pattern. The ceiling of the dome is painted in a stylized eight
point star and features a linked chain and centered medallion of
five point stars.
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A massive round bronze chandelier, proposed in the 1960s and
comprised of cylindrical fixtures at the perimeter, was never
constructed. It was proposed because strips of incandescent
bulbs, located behind the twenty windows in the lantern, were
ineffective in bringing additional light into the rotunda. The
problem was solved when the incandescent bulbs were replaced with
flourescent fixtures.

Senate and House Chambers

Above the first floor, the entire east and west wings are devoted
to the Senate and House chambers. Spatial characteristics and
functional disposition of public and private rooms are
practically identical. Each chamber is a triple height space,
unencumbered by structural columns. Each features wood paneled
wall surfaces: golden oak in the House, walnut in the Senate.
Wall heights are 30 feet above a marble base approximately 21
1/2" high to the painted frieze 4 1/2" beneath the lowest border
of the suspended plaster ceiling. Names of Oregonians and others
prominent in the history and development of the state are
depicted between painted trompe 1l'ceil medallions expressing
attributes of Oregon history and commerce.

There are no chandeliers. Apart from the wealth of natural light
streaming in from the five massive exterior windows, original
lighting takes the form of the bronze and opaque glass square
ceiling fixtures recessed in the spectator balcony soffits. A
system of 4 and 6-inch aperture recessed spots for the main
ceiling was designed in 1964 by Francis Keally in association
with Joseph R. Loring and Associates and Svend W. Bruun, all of
New York.

Speaker and clerk's rostrums are practically identical in both
chambers. They are located on the center axis and situated on
two marble encased platforms set into substantial niches. 1In the
House, the recess resembles the canted north entrance elevation.
In the Senate the walls are curved. Dominating each niche are
the monumental wall murals depicting: Senate - the 1843 Champoeg
meeting; House - the 1859 admission of Oregon to the Union.

In the Senate, the first platform is 1'2" off the floor and the
second another 2'4" from the first. In the House, the first base
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is 1'9" from the floor, and the second 2'11" above it. Both
lower platforms have an elliptical design which is mirrored in
the curved fronts of the clerk's desk. The speaker's desk behind
is rectangular and features a raised center podium and set-backs.
Both sets of desks are decorated to complement the predominant
decorative wall motifs. In the Senate, these appear as a series
of horizontal bands, separated by a double bull-nose or
horizontal reed molding four inches in width. The first, or base
panel closest to the floor, is 50" high. All others are 43"
high. In the House, the motif is one of a grid. The height of
the base panel is the same as in the Senate. Dimensions on the
upper wall panels are 38 3/4"w x 43"h. These panels are
separated by a 3" border composed of a 1 1/2" wide strip flanked
by 3/4" reveals.

Wood for legislator's desks and seating also matches the wall
paneling. Dispersed in an elliptical pattern on either side of
the central axis, the custom crafted desks are 2'6 1/2" high,
4'3" wide and feature a 10" high bookcase on the front face. The
desks also display a perimeter top bumper, three top drawers and
two unequal-width side drawers. Alterations from their original
appearance include the addition of microphone assemblies, an
automatic voting apparatus, and a series of applied inscribed
copper plates on the side panel which denotes the names of each
legislator occupying the desk.

The other notable feature in each chamber is the carpeting,
recently replaced but in an identical design to the original. 1In
the Senate the pattern in one of thickly bordered alternating
wheat sheaves and Chinook salmon motifs. In the House, the
Douglas fir pattern (Oregon's state tree) is set on a diagonal
grid, also generously bordered.

On the second floor, direct access to each chamber is through
double three panel wooden doors centered on the east/west axis.
At the sides, door jambs are of bull-nosed and reeded marble,
and are surmounted by a flat marble panel incised with the name
of each legislative body. Secondary circulation to the chambers
and legislative offices beyond are through similar openings into
two shallow vestibules at the extreme north and south ends of the
second floor lobby. These lead to the single height galleries,
approximately nine feet wide, which flank the main chamber, and



NPS Form 10-000-a
OMB Approval No. 10240018

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number __7___ Page 18

extend the length of the space. An enclosed wooden paneled
partition approximately 10 1/2" wide and three feet from the
floor, separates the gallery from the main chamber and is found
between 3' x 18" piers which provide the structural support for
the spectator and circulation balcony above. In the House, below
the soffit of the rectangular openings created between the
gallery and chambers on both sides, hang three electronic vote
tabulation boards, paneled in golden oak to be compatible with
the surrounding woodwork. No such feature exists in the Senate
although mechanical provision for nglectric voting" for both
chambers had been made when the building was constructed.

Additional bleacher-style spectator seating is located at the
rear or main corridor sides of each chamber on the third floor,
and is accessed through two large paneled, windowless vestibules
located at the extreme north and south ends of the third floor
corridors. Spectator spaces feature the original molded plywood
and cast iron seating. Cast bronze safety rails are either one
or two feet in height.

To the east and west of the legislative chambers are the seldom-
seen old legislative office complexes which extend from floors
two through four. Directly abutting the rostrum walls are
toilets and other service facilities. These rooms are generally
separated by a full width corridor adjacent to a series of rooms
overlooking the west and east parks. Originally, these rooms
were designated almost exclusively as Committee Rooms and as
offices for the Speaker of the House and Senate President. Often
remodeled to accommodate the changing functional requirements of
an expanding legislature, the rooms still recall the major
original spatial configurations, if not their finishes.

Governor's Office

Occupying the entire second floor of the south wing, the
Governor's private offices have changed little from their
original configuration. The suite is entered on the north/south
axis through a set of essentially unadorned double doors in
walnut. These lead to the Governor's Reception area, a large
rectangular space sheathed in unadorned 10'3" high walnut panels
in varying widths alternating with 9" wide fluted vertical boards
above a six-inch marble base. The plaster ceiling, raised above
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a walnut-encased soffit, 1is similar to those found in the
corridor, being basically flat with two shallow superimposed
borders at the perimeter. Originally covered in linoleum, with a
conifer-patterned area rug, the floor today is entirely carpeted.
Sofas and chairs are original to the room, as is the fine
circular table donated to the State by the architects. It
features a five column base, signature reeded border, and an
inlaid design of the former Statehouse on top, created from
forty different types of wood. Also original are the four
pendant saucer fixtures in glass and chrome. Changes to this
space include the addition of a picture rail, and the sealing off
of the rectangular wall opening to the west which was formerly
used by the receptionist. Doors to the corridors beyond are
flush with the wall paneling.

The Governor's Ceremonial office is found directly south of the
Reception room through another set of double doors. The space
is essentially square and walls are covered in grid patterned
walnut panels 26" x 30" in dimension above a six-inch black
marble baseboard. Two single paneled doors are set in the east
and west walls, leading to other offices in the suite. Those on
the east originally led directly to the Governor's Conference
room, formerly known as the Board of Control meeting room. The
size of the conference room has been reduced to accommodate two
additional office spaces. There is a modest molding at the
juncture of the ceiling and wall plane. The ceiling is identical
in design to that found in the Reception room. Light fixtures
are similar also. The linoleum floor was originally covered by a
custom—-designed carpet. Centered on the east wall is a marble
fireplace flush with the wall and framed in 2 1/2" wide bronze in
a reed pattern. A painted map of the State of Oregon,
commissioned at the same time the other Capitol murals were
planned, appears in a panel over the fireplace.

Adjacent to the Ceremonial Office to the west, and overlooking
the south elevation, ar the Governor's private offices. Composed
of a series of three narrow rectangular rooms, two are paneled in
walnut with horizontal reveals. The Governor's Office, located
at the southwest corner features walls and ceilings paneled in
Oregon myrtlewood. The walls have the same horizontal emphasis
expressed in the adjacent offices. The ceiling is in a grid
pattern.
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The former Board of Control meeting room, now serving the
Governor, occupies the southeast corner. It is paneled in
natural finish knotty pine bordered by narrow horizontal bands.
The west wall, moved to the east the width of a bay, has been
paneled to match the original, although the quality of the wood
and its finish are not equal to the original. Also noteworthy in
this room are the original maple furnishings, including the
massive conference table with curved end and spindle-back
Windsor-style armchairs. The remaining staff offices, located
to the north of the wing and accessed through the Governor's
Reception room, have been remodeled numerous times.
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DEPARTMENTAL AND SERVICE AREAS

Ground Floor - The formal character of the upper floors is
lacking on the ground floor. Of the numerous rooms originally
partitioned for various departments, only the hearing room below
the rotunda, the coffee shop, and some mechanical rooms remain in
their original positions. Other spaces in the wings, given over
originally to department storage and Motor Vehicle use have been
altered many times. The west wing, having formerly been
remodeled to accommodate legislation offices, now houses
Facilities Services and some Treasury Department offices. The
south wing, where license plates were made originally, now
functions as the mail and bill room and copy center. The east
wing, orginally denoted "Motor Vehicle Workroom" now houses media
rooms and some Secretary of State's functions. Toward the north,
the general storage area now houses Emergency Services.

First Floor

West Wing - (North elevation) - This series of offices
originally housed the State Treasurer, Treasury Department,
Bookkeeping and Inheritance Tax functions. The spaces, remodeled
several times, still serve the Treasury Department.

West Wing -~ (South elevation) - Original functions of these
spaces included the cigar stand, Press Room and offices for the
Land Board. Currently, the completely remodeled spaces serve

the Governor's staff.

East Wing - (North elevation) - Originally occupied by the
Secretary of State, the suite continues to serve in that
capacity. Major alterations have occurred but some original

spaces and finishes are intact.

East Wing - (South elevation) - Originally divided into two large
spaces for Elections and Motor Vehicles, today the area is
partitioned into Legislative Revenue office, the Joint Committee
on Trade and Economic Development, and a large hearing room.
These spaces have been completely remodeled.
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South Wing

originally occupied by various offices of the Board of Control,
today the spaces function as a lobby, display space, visitor
information services, gift shop and transition space into the new
legislative wings. All original fabric, including exterior
walls, was demolished.

Legislative Wings

Flanking the north/south axis are two sets of three large hearing
rooms which, combined with circulation and service functions,
take up the entire space. The corridors are paneled in golden
oak with black marble bases. Floors are terrazzo. Ceilings are
of acoustical tile generally and attached bench seating 1is
adjacent to the interior courtyards.

The legislative office section of this floor is divided into
perimeter offices and hearing rooms around a central service
core. The office layout on the upper floors of the legislative
wings for both House and Senate follow basically the same layout.

Third Floor

South Wing - As originally configured, a large centered committee
room was designated for Ways & Means and sited directly above the
Governor's Ceremonial office. Similar large committee rooms
abutted the south corridor, and looked out to the east and west.
Several small offices occupied the southeast and southwest
corners. Currently housing the Legislative Administration
committee, major original spaces are intact, although finishes
have been altered.

North Wing - Corresponding to the width of the exterior
pavilions, two double height committee rooms with paneled
wainscot, 15' ceilings and illuminated by skylights are located
to the north. The one to the east was remodeled in 1986 and the
one to the west is currently undergoing similar alterations, both
being designed by Settecase, Smith and Doss.
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Fourth Floor

The only major developed space on the fourth floor apart from the
legislative rooms in the wings appears to the south. As
originally laid out, the room configuration is very similar to
that found on the floor below, and was originally ceded to the
Oregon State Police. Currently, the space has been partitioned
and remodeled but unchanged spatially.
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CHRONOLOGY OF ALTERATIONS

1. Expansion of Ventilating System
J. Donald Kroeher, Portland, consulting engineer

Plans dated: 9-27-48

Required installation of new ductwork, intake grills,
changes in corridor height on the third floor to 9
feet, and 8. feet on the fourth, plus additional
soffits.

2. Creation of Visitor Information Center
Ralph Appleman, Portland, architect
Plans dated: 6-6-60 '

Sponsored by the State of Oregon and West Coast
Lumberman's Association, the center was located on the
north/south axis directly adjacent to the rotunda on
the first floor, and occupied spaces formerly used by
the Board of Control. The wood paneled space featured
a wood mural on the west wall, acoustical tile
ceilings, recessed lighting, and built-in seating.

3. Alteration to House Committee Rooms and Lounge (west wing)
In-house project, Department of Finance and Administration
E. F. Gilstrap, architect
Plans dated: 8-5-60

On the second floor in the legislative office wings the
Speaker's suite was subdivided, as was the large room
to the south. On the third floor of the same wing, the
former House Committee Room suite was altered into one
large space serving as the House Lounge. A kitchen was
installed at the north end.
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4, House and Senate Chamber Relighting
Francis Keally, architect
Joseph R. Loring & Assoc., consulting engineers
Svend W. Bruun, consulting illuminating engineer,
all of New York
Plans dated: 9-2-64 (revised)

Recessed spot lighting was installed in the ceiling of
the House and Senate Chambers.

5. Installation of Air Conditioning
Carkin & Sherman, Salem, architects

Plans dated: 7-17-68

This major alteration required removal of some existing
ductwork, partitions, and suspended plaster ceilings.
Chases were installed around perimeter structural
columns and behind the rotunda walls. Some marble and

wood trim removed but reused. The system is
essentially unseen. Radiators were removed and
replaced with fan/coil units. Plaster ceilings were
replaced.

As part of the same project the garden maintenance
building on the East Park grounds was expanded to the
south.

6. Alterations to the Secretary of the State's Office
(east wing)
Stuart B. Mockford, Oregon City, architect
Plans dated: 8-23-68

Designed to alter the Elections Division in the
Secretary of State's Office, north elevation, east
wing, the ©plans called for removal of existing
partitions, addition of new partitions, and alteration
of wall finishes.
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7. Rotunda Stair Balustrade

Carkin & Sherman, Salem, architects

Plans dated: 10-7-68, revised July 1975

This unrealized proposal involved design development
for hand rails to be installed on the rotunda stairs.
At least six baluster designs were proposed.

Also included in the submission was a scheme to install
ashtrays and curved benches in the rotunda.

8. Alteration to the Ground Floor Coffee Shop
Stuart B. Mockford, Oregon City, architect

Plans dated: 12-3-68 9 (revised)
Essentially a remodeling project.

9. Ground Floor Alteration (west wing)

carkin & Sherman, Salem, architects
Plans dated: 6-20-70 (revised)

The original configuration of the west wing was
impacted by this project, whose purpose was to provide
additional 1legislative offices. Most existing
partitions were demolished and a system of perimeter
offices around a center core of double row offices was
established. At this time the Blue Room bangquet room
was created close to the coffee shop.

In the east wing, south side, a media center was
created, while to the north, existing partitions were
demolished to accommodate mail and supply rooms, plus
bill storage.

10. Major Interior Alterations
Carkin & Sherman, Salem, architects

Morrison Funatake & Assoc., mechanical engineers
Klawa Mehlig & Assoc., electrical engineers
Plans dated: 11-30-71

This project significantly altered a number of
departmental spaces in the Capitol. on the south
elevation of the west wing (first floor) the original
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vault was removed and all partitions demolished. New
bathrooms, and perimeter offices with central service
core were installed. A new reception desk, new
ceilings, and floor and wall coverings were provided.

Oon the first floor of the south wing, prior to its
incorporation into the new additions, all partitions
were demolished, and similar small perimeter offices
with a core of double rank windowless partitions were

constructed. = Original vaults were removed and new
ceilings, floor coverings, trim and wall surfaces
provided.

on the south elevation, east wing, the Legislative
Revenue offices were created. One large hearing room
remains spatially, but all finishes have been replaced,
including ceilings, floor coverings, trim and wall
surfaces.

Oon the third floor, the previously-altered House Lounge
was partitioned.

on the fourth floor, the House Lounge was relocated
from the third floor, including the kitchen. The
corridor and interior partitions were demolished.

At the same time, the fourth floor Senate Office wing
configuration was altered, and the corridor partially
eliminated.

In the south wing, spaces remained but all partitions
were demolished and finishes removed. New ceilings,
floor and wall coverings and trim were added.

11. Legislative Assembly Media Project
Carkin & Sherman, Salem, architects

Plans dated: 12-3-74

This project altered Room 315 to accommodate TV
monitors and other electrical needs to serve the media.
1' x 4' fluorescent panels were installed on the
ceiling.



NPS Form 10-00-a
(8-00)

OMB Approval No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number

7 28

Page __ ="

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

Remodel of Rooms 221, 211A, 212 and Reception

Second floor, west wing, House offices
Ccarkin & Sherman, Salem, architects
Plans dated: 12-16-74

Alterations to Speaker's offices. Corridor eliminated
as walls expanded to the east. Wainscot in offices
removed and replaced with new. Suspended ceilings, new
floor coverings, wall surfaces and trim added.

Additions of South Elevation legislative Wings
Wolf Zimmer Gunsul Frasca with Pietro Belluschi

Plans dated: 10-8-75

Previously discussed in the text.

Second Floor Terrace, New Addition
Mitchel Associates, Portland. Landscape architects

Plans dated: 7-8-76

Paving and planting scheduled for the outdoor terrace.

Ground Floor - Emergency Services
Lawrence H. Hite, Portland, architect

Plans dated: 8-19-76

Addition of corridors, partitions, and other finishes
to area north of mechanical rooms in the former storage
area.

Post-addition Capitol Remodel
Zimmer Gunsul Frasca Partnership, Portland, architects

Plans dated: 11-8-77

Remodel of Treasurer's offices on first floor,
including new partitions, «ceilings and finishes.
Remodel of ground floor south wing. Removal of
partitions, construction of ramp to new parking garage.
Alterations designed to accommodate mail and bill rooms
and copy center. New ceilings, floor and wall surfaces
provided.
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17. Capitol Re-roofing
Zimmer Gunsul Frasca Partnership, Portland, architects

Plans dated: 2-15-79

All of the original quarry tile roofing was removed and
a new built-up bitumen roof was laid. Also, flashing
was replaced around the parapet and dome.

18. Governor's Staff Offices Remodeled
The Amundson Associates, Springfield, architects
Plans dated: 5-12-80

Minor changes to the south elevation offices, west
wing, formerly altered by Carkin & Sherman. On the
second floor Governor's suite, the former receptionist
office to the west from the Governor's Reception room
extensively altered. New partitions, light fixtures
and finishes were added.

19. Fire Alarms System Installation
Peterson Associates, engineers

Plans dated: 7-14-80

Provided new fire alarm system throughout the Capitol.

20. Mineral Display Cabinet Installation
Settecase, Smith & Doss, Salem, architects

Plans dated: 6-14-82

On the first floor on the east wall of the Governor's
Sstaff wing, a former rectangular opening, originally
servicing the Cigar Shop, was infilled with a tempered
glass and anodized aluminum display case 10' 1/4" wide,
projecting 11 1/2" from the wall on the corridor side.

21. Ground Floor Alterations
Zimmer Gunsul Frasca Partnership, Portland, architects
Plans dated: 11-8-77

In the east wing, the former Legislative office's were
changed to accommodate Facilities Services. The
central office pod was eliminated and the space
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enclosed. Other perimeter offices serve Facilities &
Security staff.

In the west w1ng, the former supply room was altered to
serve expansion of the Secretary of State's offices.

22. Exterior Cleaning
Samuels & Clay, Coos Bay, architects

‘Plans dated: April 1986

This project prov1ded for the cleaning of all exterior
marble surfaces on the original Capitol Building.

23. Alterations to Hearing Room 343
Settecase, Smith & Doss, Salem, architects

Plans dated: 5-9-86

Floors were carpeted, wall surface finishes changed, a
new picture rail was added. Perimeter suspended
ceilings added. Dominant centered skylight opening
partially obscured by series of hung fabric panels.

24. Alterations to Hearing Room 357
Settecase, Smith & Doss, Salem, architects
Plans dated: 1-5-88

In ‘progress, but similar to alterations to Hearing Room 343.
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|§]See continuation sheet

Boundary JustificationThe nominated area of 14% acres encompasses the Oregon State Capitol, its
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inal unit of the lengthy formal approach around which the Capitol building group later devel-
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traditional site of Oregon capitols since the Territorial period. It also contains commemor-
ative works of art and landscape characteristics which contribute to the significance of the

roperty. The area encompasses the last portion [ _]See continuation sheet of the historic public
squaze P?M_tmplL____tmmdnin open space. See more detail under Section 8
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APPLICATION OF THE CRITERIA FOR EVALUATION

The Oregon State Capitol in Salem is a landmark of Modernistic
design based on Classical architecture. Constructed with
assistance of the Federal Emergency Administration of Public
Works (P.W.A.) at the height of the Depression, it was completed
in 1938 as a replacement for the old Statehouse, which had been
destroyed by fire in 1935. The Capitol was the central and
original feature of a government building group which developed,
according to plan, around the mall which formed a lengthy formal
approach from the north. Constructed of reinforced concrete, the
building is distinguished by angular, unadorned exterior
elevations and a massive, ribbed lantern--all sheathed 1in
brilliant white Vermont marble. The new "Stripped Classical"
Capitol was strikingly modern at the time of its dedication. It
won acclaim for the architect, Francis Keally, who was associated
with the New York firm of Trowbridge and Livingston for purposes
of the national design competition. The simple elegance of its
design and its superior finish work continue to draw admiration
in the present day.

While the Capitol is a component of a larger designed landscape,
almost all development on the mall followed at a later date.
Only the State Library, funded as part of the Capitol
Reconstruction Project, was erected concurrently. The Library
Building was not complete and opened for use, however, until
1939. The historic period of significance chosen for the
nomination, therefore, spans the four years which encompassed
the Capitol's planning, design and construction. For the same
reason, the area proposed for nomination is confined to the
Capitol Building, its immediate grounds on the east and west
containing certain commemorative statuary contributing to the
significance of the property, and the north plaza, which extends
from the Capitol steps across Court Street to include East and
West Summer Streets for the length of one block and the sunken
terrace between the two rights of way. The north plaza was the
key element of the revolutionary north-facing axial plan of the
new Capitol. It was an integral part of the accepted design and
was brought to completion as the new building was dedicated. The
total extent of the nominated area is approximately fourteen and
a half acres.
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Under the category of architecture, the Oregon State Capitol
meets National Register evaluation criterion C as the foremost
example of Modernistic architecture in the state. More
important, it was a building nationally recognized as one of the
modern American capitols which departed from stale historicism
while at the same time integrating a traditional plan with
functional design. Artists of national reputation collaborated
in the winning design and were employed at the recommendation of
the architects to produce the sculptural relief and paintings of
a taut and finely wrought decorative program. Thus, the Capitol
meets criterion C secondarily for the high artistic values
represented in the work of Ulric Ellerhusen, Leo Friedlander,
Barry Faulkner, and Frank Schwarz.

The nominated property also meets evaluation criterion A as the
foremost community planning and architectural development project
carried out under State and Federal auspices in Oregon during the
Great Depression. The State Capitol Reconstruction Project, like
so many P.W.A. projects of its day, arose in an atmosphere of
emergency and evolved as a confident vision of the future. It is
doubtful that a project of such scope, involving the acquisition
of entire blocks of land, demolition of some of the city's
substantial residences and the rearrangement of streets, could
have been undertaken with the State's resources alone. Yet, from
the outset, the project was faultlessly shaped by the State Board
of Control acting in cooperation with the Legislature and the
State Planning Board. Long-range needs for administrative office
space were assessed in all the branches and departments of State
government. Planners and citizen advisors engaged in a momentary
debate over selection of a site. Principles for design of a
capitol group were laid down with benefit of counsel from leading
figures in business and the professions, including most
particularly, Portland architect Jamieson Parker, Chairman of the
State Planning Board's public works committee, and Seattle
architect, carl F. Gould, F.A.I.A., who served as technical
advisor through the phase of design competition. The Portland
firm of Whitehouse and Church was selected as the Capitol
architects' local associate.

For the duration of the project, the State Capitol Reconstruction
Commission performed steadily its duties of general
coordination, establishing the jury of award, overseeing land
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purchase and controversial condemnation proceedings, and letting
contracts for all manner of work ranging from excavation for the
foundation to the supply of interior furnishings. The success
of the Oregon State Capitol in artistic terms owed materially to
the will of this appointed body to uphold the proposed scheme in
every particular.

The immense and multifarious effort poured into rebuilding the
Capitol in the years 1935 to 1938 produced not only a modern
statehouse of monumental rank, it provided a physical plant for
governing and lawmaking which proved to be enduringly
serviceable. This nomination, based on the premise of high
architectural and artistic values, does not imply the legislation
wrought within the chambers and committee rooms from 1939 onward
is less important than the act of creating the setting. Actions
of executive and legislative branches of government while housed
in the new Capitol were commenced 1less than 50 years ago,
however, and, under National Register guidelines, may be
evaluated in a separate context at a future date.

Since its completion, the Capitol has been maintained, generally,
with due appreciation of its character-defining features by the
Oregon Legislative Assembly through the Legislative
Administration Committee. The most conspicuous indication of the
Legislature's respect for the <continuum of statehouse
development at the head of Willson Park was the expansion project
undertaken in the period 1975-1977. It added neaded office space
and hearing rooms to the Capitol's south elevation. Block-like
wings of comparable scale, compatibly styled and sheathed in
matching Vermont marble, were designed by Wolff, Zimmer, Gunsul,
Frasca Partnership of Portland to be fundamentally subordinate
and distinguishable as additions by their set-back from the main
volume. The essential integrity of the Capitol design is
undiminished by the south wings. Francis Keally periodically
conferred on matters pertaining to later mall development until
his death in 1978.
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ANTECEDENT OREGON STATEHOUSES:
THEIR SETTING AND ARCHITECTURAL TRADITION

To appreciate fully the stripped-down modernism of Oregon's
Capitol of 1938, it 1is wuseful ¢to picture the building's
antecedents which had been erected at the head of Willson Avenue
in the center of Salem in 1853-1854 and, later, in the period
1873-1876. It will be seen that, for all its cleanness of line,
the modern Capitol was not an entirely radical replacement. It
was crowned by a drum-like lantern, a Modernistic version of the
lanterns and domes which had graced American capitols since the
19th Century.

The capital city of Oregon is situated predominantly on the east
bank of the Willamette River in a broad and fertile alluvial
plain bracketed by the Cascade Range on the east and the Coast
Range on the west. Snow-capped peaks of the Cascades are a
distant backdrop to timbered areas which, here and there, border
Salem at closer range. The outlying countryside is generally
level, particularly to the north and east, and is ideal for
cultivation and settlement, both of which developed steadily
from the time the town was founded by disbanded Methodist
missionaries in the 1840s.

The original plat of Salem was laid out in 1846 by William H.
Willson, a former lay member of the Methodist Mission. It was a
grid pattern in which east-west streets extended at a right
angle to the river. The core grid, therefore, is skewed
slightly to the southwest from true north because the Willamette
completes a gentle curve from east to north near the outfall of
Mill Creek, a stream which had attracted the missionaries to the
location in 1840.

Distinctive characteristics of Willson's plat were its broad
avenues 99 feet in width and generous blocks approximately 300
feet square. At the heart of the plat was the larger of two
public squares, a continuous open space three blocks long early
known as Willson Avenue. Around it, the important institutions
of the town were situated, including the Methodist Church and the
Methodists' Oregon Institute, which became Willamette University.
Government buildings which initially stood at east and west ends
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of Willson Avenue eventually would proliferate and evolve to fill
all but one block of the central public space set aside by the
platter.

In the days before flood control on the Willamette, town
promoters were pleased to point out that the gradual grade from
the eastern outskirts westerly toward the river made for good
drainage. In the east-west axial arrangement of government
buildings on Willson Avenue, the subtle slope of the land meant
that the Territorial and State capitols at the head of the park,
or "avenue" were slightly elevated above the site of the Marion
County Courthouse at the west, or lower end. Yet, even after
1876, when the State Capitol dominated other government buildings
in mass as well as siting, the Capitol was supported by clock
tower, cupola, belfry and spire. The arrangement of these
prominent religious, educational and public buildings was
symbolic, perhaps, of the necessary interactions of a close-knit
society taking root on the frontier.

From the time Oregon was declared a Territory of the United
States in 1848, controversy surrounded the subject of locating
the seat of government at Salen. Vying for status with the
Methodist townsite was Oregon City, which had been the seat of
the Provisional Government. Even after Congress confirmed Salem
as Territorial capital in 1852, there was an attempt to relocate
the government to Corvallis.

While designation of the capital was disputed by supporters of
the contending Willamette Valley settlements, the Territorial
Legislature met in Salem, generally, from 1850 onward. In 1853
the Territory entered into agreements with local contractors to
erect a permanent statehouse, which was to be situated on Block
84 of Willson's plat at the head of the long central square, or
"avenue." The partially completed building was occupied briefly
by the Legislative Assembly in December, 1854. But the following
year, the legislators removed to Corvallis. Once it was learned
the Federal government would not authorize expenditure of monies
appropriated for construction of public buildings at any place
but the Territorial capital designated by Congress, th

legislature returned to Salem and reconvened in the statehouse.

Oon the night of December 29, 1855, after having been in use
scarcely a month, all told, the frame building burned to ruins.
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A formal inquiry into the cause of the fire failed to prove what
was suspected: the statehouse, together with the Territorial
library and furniture, was thought to have been destroyed in an
act of arson.

Oregon's first permanent statehouse had been a two-story, temple-
fronted building in the prevailing architectural style of the
day: the Greek Revival. Rectangular in plan, it was oriented
longitudinally, with its pedimented portico facing west onto the
open space of Willson Avenue. While no documentary view was made
of the building while it stood, the legislative record gives a
clear enough description of its general character. Its gable
roof was to hav% been surmounted by a lantern, or cupola, which
was never built.

As initially planned, the statehouse was to have been constructed
of smooth-dressed ashlar, and its porch in the Ionic order was to
have been formed of columns and antae, or pilasters at the ends
of the main walls. A stone foundation, in fgct, had been 1laid
for the building by Charles Bennett in 1853. A. W. Ferguson,
one of the statehouse commissioners superintending construction,
submitted his bill for drafting plans, specifications and
detailed drawings in the 1Ionic order in December, 1853.
Abruptly, in an apparent effort to stay within the limits of the
aggregate appropriation of $50,000, the Legislative Assembly
passed a resolution changing the material of construction to wood
and the style of the Classical columns to the more simply
rendered Doric order. Accordingly, Ferguson drafted new plans,
drawings and specifications "in the Grecian Doric order of
architecture," and they were carried out in all but certain og
the finishing details by principal contractor William H. Rector.
Though exceedingly short 1lived, the Territorial building had
nonetheless commenced a Classical tradition for Oregon
statehouses.

For the next 20 years, which included the transition to Statehood
in 1859, the Oregon Legislature convened in rented rooms in
commercial buildings near the Salem riverfront. The primary
locations were the Nesmith Building and the Holman Building
located at the southwest and northwest corners, respectively, of
the intersection of Commercial and Ferry streets. Neither
building stands today.
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In 1872, the State Legislature appropriated funds to erect a new
statehouse on the traditional site at the head of Willson Avenue.
Construction was commenced in 1873 and was substantially complete
by 1876. The second statehouse, too, was Classically inspired,
but it reflected a widely revived interest in monumental
architecture of the Italian Renaissance. Not only did it employ
the Roman Corinthian order and arched openings, it was far more
massive. To contain all the departments of government as well
as the legislature and officers of state, the building was three
stories in height and had a cruciform plan, the long axis of
which extended north to south the length of 264 feet. Minor
arms, or projecting entrance sections were centered on east and
west facades. Walls were constructed of brick above the ashlar
ground story of native Oregon sandstone from the Umpqua region.
Upper stories were trimmed with limestone and ultimately were
given a stone grey finish overall. The low, double-pitched roof
had a modillioned cornice, raked at north and south gable ends.

Formally organized exterior elevations of the Statehouse were
treated with the depth of surface ornament and pronounced
horizontal and vertical divisions between stories and structural
bays which so characterized the High Victorian Italianate style.
Above the rusticated ground story, continuous strip pilasters
rose to the cornice, where they were terminated by Corinthian
capitals. Imitating palace architecture of the 1Italian
Renaissance, third story windows having segmental arch heads and
hooded 1lintels with triangular pediments varied in detail from
those of the main story over which they were superposed.

When the Salem City Council authorized vacation of Summer Street
at the west front of the statehouse in 1880, the 99-foot right of
way became part of the capitol grounds in accordance with the
Legislature's request. In 1887-1888, when the grand staircases
and pedimented porticoes supported by colossal Corinthian columns
were added to east and west entrances, the strong axial approach
to the west front was further enhanced. It was not until 1893,
however, that the new statehouse was crowned with the dome called
for in the original design by the Portland firm of Krumbein and
Gilbert. Including additional appropriations for the final
improvements, the new statehouse was thus complete at a total
cost close to the original estimate of $550,000.
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Resting on an arcaded drum and surmounted by an outlook, or
observation cupola, the copper-clad dome echoed, as did those of
so many statehouses across the country, the dome which Thomas U.
Walter added to the nation's Capitol in the 1850s. The design of
such domes, of course, ultimately was derived from Renaissance
archetypes. There being no other superstructure 1like it in
Oregon, the statehouse dome became a symbol of state government.
Functionally, however, its purpose was to admit 1light to the
rotunda, or central circulation space at the crossing of opposing
axes of the building. Oowing to the structural support system
required for its addition, the dome was at once the feature which
most distinguished the statehouse and the principal means by
which the building happened to be destroyed beyond recall after
nearly 60 years of service.

Oon April 25, 1935, a fire started in the basement of the east
wing and quickly spread to piles of old records in wooden storage
boxes. As the strong updraft in the hollow columns enclosing the
dome's eight supporting steel lattice girders pulled the flames
through the rotunda to upper stories, the core of the building
was rapidly engulfed in flames. The dome inverted and collapsed
into its well. Despite the efforts of the Salem Fire Department,
the building could not be saved. Volunteers succeeded in
removing a miscellany of furniture and records.

Oregon's early capitols followed conventional patterns for the
statehouses of their day. In the original capitol of the 1850s,
a simple, rectangular temple form, the upper and lower bodies of
the legislature were housed in chambers on separate floors. 1In
the statehouse of the Victorian era the House and Senate occupied
chambers on opposite ends of the main story, which was the
second level, or premier étage. Through its form and decorative
program, the capitol of Justus Krumbein and W. G. Gilbert vaunted
the State, not by allusion to Oregon attributes, but by recalling
the legislative heritage of the Roman Republic and the splendor
of the Renaissance. Externally, there was but one heraldic
emblem to proclaim the building's particular location. O<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>